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THE FEDERAL GRAND JURY CHARGES:
|  COUNT 1

CONSPIRACY AGAINST RIGHTS
’ 18 U.S.C. § 241

INTRODUCTION

1. At all times relevant to this indictment, the Iberia Parish Sheriffs
_ Ofﬁce (“IPSO”j Stéffed t_he Iberia Parish Jail (“IPJ”) in New Iberia, Louisiana. The
Iberia Parish dJail housed state and federal pre-frial detainees and inmates
convicted of state crimes. The jail included, among other facilities, pods that housed
inmates; control booths that monitored the pods; and a chapel that was not covered
by the jail’s video-surveillance system. |

2. The Narcotics Unit at the IPSO was a specially-trained group of



officers, led by a Lieutenant and a Sergeant. The Narcotics Unit was occasionally
called to the jail to assist in conducting shakedowns of the facility;
3. On Api‘il 29, 2011, defendant LLOUIS ACKAL was the Sheriff in

charge of both the IPSO and the IPJ.

4, On April 29, 2011, defendant GERALD SAVOY was a Supervisor at

the IPSO.

5. On April .29, 2011, Wesley Hayes Waé the Warden at IPJ; and Jason
Comeaux and Byron Benjamin Lassalle were Narcotics Agents at the iPSO.

6. On April 29, 2011, Warden Hayes 'reques_"ced' assistance from IPSO
during a shakedown of the jail.

7. Asaresult, ACKAL and SAVOY, along with memberé of the K-9 unit,
the SWAT team, the Narcotics Uﬁ.it, and fhé iMPACT unit, responded to IPJ tol.
asgsist.

8. C.0., 8.8, A:T., A.D., and H.G. were pre-trial detainees hopse’d at the
IPJ on April 29, 2011. " |

THE CHARGE

9. Paragraphs 1-8 are hereby incorporated into the counts set forth
below.
On or about April 29, 2011, defendants

LOUIS ACKAL and
GERALD SAVOY

willfully conibined,. conspired, and agreed with one another, and with Wesley
5 .



Hayes, Jason Comeaux, Byron Benjamin Lassalle, and other persons known and
unknown to the 'g-rand jury, to injure, oppress, threaten, and intimiddte- mmates
and pre-trial detainees, including C.0., S.8, AT, AD, and HG., in the free
exercise and enjoyment of the right, secured and protected by the Constitution and
laws of the United States, not to be deprived of liberty without due process of law,
which includes the right to be free frbm the use of excessive force amounting to

punishment by a law enforcement officer.

PLAN AND PURPOSE OF THE CONSPIRACY
10. It was the plan and pufpose of the conspiracy that IPSO officers and
supervisors would punish and retaliate against inmates and pre-trial detainees by
taJ;ing them to the chapel of the IPJ , whe_re there were no video surveillance
cameras, to unlawfully assault them. It was further part of the agreement that ﬁhe
officers and supervisors who witnessed these unlawful assaults wouid not intervene

to stop them.

OVERT ACTS

1i. l:-[n furtherance of the conspiracy, and to effect the object thereof, the
defendants and their co-conspirators corlnmitted the following overt acts, among
others, at the IPJ, in the Western District of Louisiana: | |

a. In response to a lewd comment made by a detainee on the recreation
yard in the IPJ, VACKAL, in the presence of SAVQY, told Lassalle to take care of

the detainée.



b. Understanding that ACKAL ‘Wanted him to ass\ault the detainee to
retaliate against hﬂn for the lewd comment, Lassalle, in the presence of ACKAL
and SAVOY, asked Hayés where there was a place at the jail without cameras, and
Hayes responded, “the chapel.”

c. Lassalle, Hayes, and other officers then took C.O. to the chapel, where
C.0. was hit multiple times with a baton while C.0O. was compliant and not posing a
threat to anyone. No officer in the chapel stopped the unlawful assault on C.O-.

d  Co. eventually blamed another detainee for having made the lewd
recreation yard comments. In response, Lassalle escorted that detainee, S.S., to the |
chapel so that he could be assaﬁi_ted in retaliafion for the leW-d comment.

e. Inside the chapel, numerous officers watched as S.S. was assaulted
with a baton while S.S. was compliant, kneeling on the floor, and not posing a
threat to ahyone.

£~ Upon learning that 8.S. was In j a.il for a sex offense, Lassalle took his

'baton, held 1t betweén his own legs as if it were a penis, a’nc.l forced it into S.S’s
mouth, causing S.S. to ch.oke._ No officer in the chapel stopped the unlawful assault
on S.5. |

g. When S.S. eventually blamed a third detainee for the lewd cOmments,
'officers escorfed that detainee, A.T., to the chapel, so that he could be assaulted in
retaliation for the lewd comment.

h. In the chapel, AT was assaulted with a baton while AT. was
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compliant and not posing a threat to anyone. ‘No officer in the chape‘l stopped the
unlawful assault on A.T. |

i At another poiﬁt during the shakedown, ACKAL encountered H.G.
and learned that H.G. had written létters complaining of the conditions at IPdJ.
ACKAL told an officer to take H.G. to the chapel

j. Uriderstanding that ACKAL wanted H.G. to be assaulted, the officer

escorted H.G. to the chapel.

k. ACKAL also encountered A.D., a pre-trial detainee known to ACKAL,
and told Comeaux to take care of A.D.

L. Underétanding that ACKAL vs;anted him to use force to punish A.D.,
Comeaux took A.D. to the chapel so that hé could ‘be assaulted.

m. In the chapel, ACKAL, SAVOY, and others watched as officers beat
A.D. with batons while A.D. was compliant, surrounded by officers, and not poéing a
threat to anyone. No official in the chapel stopped the unjustified abus_e of AD.
While A.D. was being beaten, another officer struck H.G., who was also in the
chapel, while H.G. was compliént and not pésing’ a threat to ényone. During the
assaults, SAVOY ordered a K-9 handler to make his dog bark, in order to

intimidate detainees A.D. and H.G.



COUNT 2

DEPRIVATION OF RIGHTS
' 18 U.S.C. § 242

The Grand Jury for the Western District of Louisiana further charges:

1. Paragraphs 1 through 8 of Count 1 are realleged and incorporated by
reference herein. _ |

2. On or about Aprﬂ 29, 2011, at the IPJ, in the Westerﬁ District pf
Louisiana, defendant | |

LOUIS ACKAL,

while acting un.der color of law and while aiding and abetting others known and
unknown to fhe grand jury, willfully deprived C.O., a pre-trial detainee, of the right,
protected aﬁd secured by‘the Cdﬁstitution and laws of the United States, not to be
deprived of liberty without due p%:ocess of law, which incluaes the right to be free
from excessive force amounting to p_unishmept by a law enforcement officer.

Specifically, defendant ACKAL'encouraged and directed another officer to assault

C.0., and that officer, aided and abetted by others, then carried out an unjustified |

assault. The offense resulted in bodily injury to C.O. and involved the use of a

darigérous weapon (a baton).

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 242 and 2.



COUNT 3

DEPRIVATION OF RIGHTS
18 U.S.C. § 242 |

The Grand Jury for the Western District of Louisiana further charges:
1. .P.aragraphs 1 through 8 of Count 1 are realleged and incorporated by
referén_.ce herein.
2. On or.about April 29, 2011, at the_iPJ, in the Western District of

Louisiana, defendants

LOUIS ACKAL and
GERALD SAVOY,

-while acting under color of law and while aiding and abetting each other and others
known and unkﬁoWn to the grand jury, willfully deprived A.D., a pre-trial détainee,
6f thel right, protected and secured byrthe Constitution and laws of the United
‘States, not to be dep_rived of liberty without due process of law, which includes the
right to be ﬁ'ge from ekcessive force émounting to punishment by a law enforcement
officer. Specifically, ACKAL. encouraged and directed another officer to assault
A.D. and then, as the assault wﬁs being carried out in the chapel of the IPJ,
ACKAL and SAVOY chose not to intervene, despite having the opportunity to do so

‘and krll.owing they had a duty to do sd. The offeﬁse resulted in bodily injury to A.D.
and involved the use of a dangerous weapon (a baton).

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 242 and 2.
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